FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/26/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/26/2023 2:46 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>102515</u>-7 Court of Appeals No. 83082-1-I

# Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Amanda Cowan,

Respondent,

v.

Joshua T. Cowan,

Petitioner.

#### **Petition for Review**

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA # 43124 Attorney for Petitioner

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com Julie Fowler WSBA#30108

Law Office of Julie K. Fowler, P.S. 14205 SE 36<sup>th</sup> Street, Ste 100 Bellevue, WA 98006 425-99-9975 julie@juliefowlerlaw.com

#### **

#### 1. Identity of Petitioner

Joshua Cowan, Appellant at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

#### 2. Court of Appeals Decision

Cowan v. Cowan, No. 83082-1-I (August 28, 2023) (published). Joshua filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which was denied by order filed September 26, 2023. Copies of the Opinion, motion, and order are provided in the appendix.

#### 3. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. An error is not harmless where there is any reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the trial court's errors harmless?
- 2. Relocation Factor Four is based on the parenting plan in place prior to relocation. There were no §191 restrictions in the original parenting plan. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in its analysis of Factor Four?
- 3. Relocation Factor Seven compares the current and intended residences of the children and relocating parent. The trial court used an unauthorized relocation as the "current" residence. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in its analysis of Factor Seven?

#### 4. Statement of the Case

#### 4.1 Introduction

Joshua and Amanda Cowan were divorced in 2020, with an agreed, shared parenting plan. When Amanda's new boyfriend moved to Utah, Amanda wanted to follow with the children. She sought a DVPO against Joshua based on alleged excessive spanking and filed notice of intent to relocate.

Amanda used the DVPO process to obtain unfair advantages in the relocation proceedings. She convinced the trial court that the DVPO was res judicata, barring Joshua from presenting evidence at the relocation trial to disprove the allegation of abuse. She convinced the trial court to impose new §191 findings¹ and restrictions based on the DVPO. She convinced the trial court to base its relocation factor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "§191 findings" refers to findings and restrictions made against a party in a parenting plan, pursuant to RCW 26.09.191.

analysis on the DVP• and the improper §191 findings. The trial court then entered those improper findings and restrictions in a modified parenting plan, without the statutory prerequisites for a modification. The trial court granted relocation of the children to Utah with Amanda.

The Court of Appeals held that the DVP® was not res judicata in the relocation trial and could not be the basis for applying the presumption in favor of relocation. However, the court found these errors harmless and affirmed the relocation order. The court held that the trial court did not have authority to modify §191 findings pursuant to relocation and reversed the modified parenting plan.

This case presents an opportunity for this Court to address the trend of strategic use of protection orders to gain unfair advantage in family law actions, and to condemn the practice.

### 4.2 Amanda accused Joshua of child abuse before filing notice of intent to relocate.

Joshua and Amanda Cowan were married in August 2009. 1 CP 28.<sup>2</sup> They had three children. 2 CP 752. The divorce was finalized with an agreed parenting plan in September 2020. 1 CP 28.

The plan provided for "equal 50/50 share custody," but also included a default calendar in which Joshua had 12 overnights and Amanda had 16. 1 CP 33. The plan contained no § 191 findings against either party. 1 CP 29.

Amanda started dating Benjamin Vinton in May 2020. 2 RP 157, 168. Vinton moved to Mapleton, Utah, in February 2021. 2 RP 168.

In March 2021, Amanda accused Joshua of excessively spanking their youngest child, leaving a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record in this case consists of multiple volumes of clerk's papers and verbatim reports. This petition will follow the pattern of citation established in Joshua's Court of Appeals briefs. *See* Br. of App. 7-8.

bruise. 1 CP 5-6. The children were removed from Joshua's home and a CPS investigation was opened.

1 CP 11. Joshua told police that the last time he spanked the child was weeks before and denied ever leaving a bruise. 1 CP 224-25.

Amanda filed a petition for a Domestic Violence Protection Order, based primarily on the spanking allegation. 1 CP 1, 6. Amanda then filed notice of intent to relocate with the children. 1 CP 72. She claimed to have been offered a job in St. George, Utah. 1 CP 73.

Joshua objected to relocation. See 1 CP 116.

## 4.3 The trial court denied Amanda's motion for temporary relocation prior to trial, finding her motives suspect.

The trial court held a hearing on whether to allow temporary relocation. RP (7/15/21) 1. Amanda had already sold her house in Maple Valley and moved with the children to her parents' home in Union, WA. RP (7/15/21) 5-6, 15.

The trial court found that Amanda's relocation to Union violated the law. RP (7/15/21) 17; 1 CP 117. The trial court also found Amanda's abuse allegations "suspect." RP (7/15/21) 18-19, 21. The trial court was suspicious that Amanda was "trying to manipulate the process in order to get a desired result." RP (7/15/21) 19.

Believing it was without power to undo Amanda's unauthorized move to Union, the trial court ordered her not to move the children from Washington pending trial. RP (7/15/22) 17, 19-22; 1 CP 117, 119.

### 4.4 At the DVPO hearing, the trial court found that Joshua had excessively spanked the child.

At the DVP• hearing, a commissioner considered the written pleadings and oral argument of the parties, without live testimony. RP (DVP•) 6.

The commissioner found that Joshua used excessive corporal punishment meeting the definition of domestic violence. RP (DVP•) 35. However, the

commissioner also questioned whether a DVP• was even the correct tool to deal with the situation. RP (DVP•) 35-36. So, while the trial court did enter a DVP•, it also provided Joshua weekend visitation with supervised overnights. RP (DVP•) 36-37; 1 CP 186-89.

### 4.5 The trial court denied Joshua's motion to vacate the DVPO based on new evidence.

Later, Joshua moved to vacate or terminate the DVP• based on new evidence that had not been available at the time of the hearing. 2 CP 5-14, 214. He argued that the new evidence seriously undermined the factual basis for the DVP•. *E.g.*, 2 CP 11, 12-14 (quoting Dr. Wigren's report, opining that the bruise was not caused by spanking, 2 CP 317-55). The trial court denied the motion. 2 CP 228-31.

# 4.6 The trial court barred Joshua from presenting any evidence at trial related to the spanking allegation.

Prior to the relocation trial, Amanda moved to prohibit Joshua from contesting the DVP•, on the

basis that the DVP● was res judicata. 2 CP 475-76;

2 RP 54-55. She also asked the trial court to exclude all testimony from Joshua's new expert witnesses,

Dr. Wigren and Dr. Marsha Hedrick, who would have offered opinion testimony that the factual basis for the DVP● was questionable. 2 CP 476-77.

The trial court concluded that the DVP® was res judicata as to the finding that Joshua had committed an act of domestic violence by excessively spanking the child. 2 RP 64-65. The trial court barred Joshua from presenting any evidence or argument that would challenge the DVP® or its central finding of fact. 2 RP 66. The trial court excluded Dr. Wigren, finding his testimony related only to the spanking allegation. 2 RP 65. The trial court allowed Dr. Hedrick to testify regarding the effects of relocation on the children but barred any testimony related to the spanking allegation. 2 RP 66.

# 4.7 The trial court started its relocation analysis by making \$191 findings against Joshua based on the DVPO's finding of excessive spanking.

At trial, Amanda argued that the trial court should consider §191 findings first. 2 CP 556. She argued that the reference to §191 in the relocation factors (RCW 26.09.520) required the trial court to consider new §191 findings or restrictions as part of the relocation factor analysis. 2 RP 82. Joshua argued that modification of a parenting plan due to relocation only allowed changes to the residential schedule and that new §191 restrictions could not be ordered. 2 RP 77-78. The trial court agreed with Amanda. 2 RP 82, 84, 121, 125; 3 RP 544-45.

The trial court's oral ruling began with the relocation factors. 4 RP 923. Noting that one of the factors is "whether there are 191 restrictions," the trial court stated, "And so I need to decide if there are going to be 191 restrictions in a new parenting plan before I move on to decide how [the factors] apply..." 4 RP 923.

The trial court found that the DVP® was res judicate of the fact of excessive spanking. 4 RP 928. Based on this, the trial court made a §191 finding of assault of a child. 4 RP 929. The trial court found that Joshua abusively used conflict. 4 RP 931-32. The trial court also made §191(2)(n) findings that continued contact between the father and children would not cause harm to the children. 4 RP 930-31.

### 4.8 The trial court applied the presumption favoring relocation, based on the DVPO.

Before returning to the relocation factors, the trial court considered application of the statutory presumption in favor of relocation. 4 RP 932-34. The parties had argued which "court order" could serve as the basis for determining whether the presumption applied. 4 RP 885-86, 890-91, 905-06. The trial court found that the DVP• was "the court order" and applied the presumption. 4 RP 933-34.

In the alternative, the trial court found that under the 2020 parenting plan, Amanda would still get the presumption. 4 RP 934. The trial court also indicated it would consider what the outcome should be without the presumption. 4 RP 934.

### 4.9 The trial court found that the factors favored granting the proposed relocation.

The trial court determined that the first factor favored Amanda because she had always been the primary parent. 4 RP 934-36; 2 CP 653. The trial court found that the second factor did not apply because the parties' agreement to move to a 50/50 schedule was abandoned. 4 RP 936-38; 2 CP 654. The trial court found that the third factor, like the first, favored Amanda. 4 RP 938-39; 2 CP 654.

•n the fourth factor, the trial court found, "The current parenting/custody order includes limitations under RCW 26.09.191 on a parent." 2 CP 655. In doing so, the trial court actually considered the new §191

restrictions that it intended to impose in a modified parenting plan if relocation was granted. 4 RP 939; 2 CP 655. The trial court found that this factor would not be determinative but it did slightly favor Amanda's position. 4 RP 939; 2 CP 655.

The trial court found, under the fifth factor, that both parties had good faith reasons for seeking or objecting to relocation. 4 RP 940; 2 CP 655. The trial court also found that Amanda had originally relocated in violation of law and was "less than forthcoming" at the time. 4 RP 939-40; 2 CP 655. The trial court found this factor favored Joshua. 4 RP 940; 2 CP 655.

The trial court found that the sixth factor favored Joshua because the children emotionally would lose access to Joshua, both sets of grandparents, and other significant people in their lives. 4 RP 941; 2 CP 656. The trial court found under the seventh factor that the quality of life for Amanda would be significantly improved based on her romantic relationship with Mr.

Vinton. 4 RP 942-43; 2 CP 656-57. The trial court found that quality of life for the children would be roughly the same between Mapleton, Utah, and their temporary home in Union, Washington. 4 RP 942; 2 CP 656. ●n balance, the trial court found this factor favored relocation. 4 RP 943; 2 CP 657.

Under factor eight, the trial court found that there were alternatives for contact between Joshua and the children but that none could be equal to denying relocation. 4 RP 943; 2 CP 657. This factor favored Joshua. 4 RP 943; 2 CP 657. The trial court found that there were no feasible or desirable alternatives to relocation, and the ninth factor favored Joshua. 4 RP 944-45; 2 CP 657.

•n the tenth factor, the trial court found that there would be significant financial impacts from relocation, particularly travel expenses for visitation, given the parties' incomes. 4 RP 945; 2 CP 657. •n the other hand, Amanda would incur significant financial

impacts if she were not allowed to relocate. 4 RP 945-46; 2 CP 657-58. The trial court found this factor to be neutral. 4 RP 946; 2 CP 658.

The trial court granted relocation. 4 RP 946-48.

## 4.10 The trial court modified the parenting plan and imposed §191 findings.

The trial court proceeded to enter a modified parenting plan. 4 RP 948. The trial court entered §191 findings of child abuse and abusive use of conflict. 4 RP 948; 2 CP 752-53. The trial court imposed a slew of restrictions on Joshua related to these findings. 4 RP 948-50; 2 CP 753-54. The trial court found that with these restrictions in place, there would be no need to limit Joshua's residential time. 4 RP 949; 2 CP 753.

Nowhere in the trial court's oral ruling or written orders did the trial court find that there had been a substantial change in circumstances. The trial court believed that it had the authority to enter new §191 findings as part of the relocation decision, without a

petition for modification or a finding of substantial change in circumstances. 2 RP 121; 3 RP 544-45; 4 RP 923.

Joshua appealed the final orders. 2 CP 634. This appeal was consolidated with Joshua's prior two appeals, from the DVP• and the trial court's denial of his motion to vacate the DVP•.

### 4.11 The Court of Appeals reversed in part and affirmed in part.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Joshua that the trial court erred in finding the DVP® res judicata on the spanking allegation and excluding Joshua's evidence rebutting the DVP® finding. App. 11-17. The court agreed with Joshua that the trial court erred in modifying the parenting plan to add §191 findings without the statutory prerequisites. App. 17-20, 25. The court agreed with Joshua that the DVP® could not be used to establish the presumption favoring relocation. App. 23-25.

However, the Court of Appeals held that these errors were harmless as to the relocation decision and affirmed relocation. App. 22, 25. The court reversed the unauthorized modifications to the parenting plan. App. 20, 25.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had properly applied relocation factors four and seven, which Joshua had challenged. App. 20. The court held that factor four, "[w]hether either parent ... is subject to limitations under RCW 26.09.191," allows trial courts to go beyond limitations in the existing parenting plan and consider new evidence of §191-like conduct as relevant to the question of whether the detrimental effects of relocation outweigh its benefits. App. 21.

The court held that, even though Amanda moved the children from King County to Union in violation of the relocation act, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed Amanda the benefit of considering Union as the "current" residence when comparing the "current and proposed geographic locations" under factor seven. App. 22-23.

Joshua seeks further review.

#### 5. Argument

A petition for review should be accepted when the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Abuse of Domestic Violence Protection

Orders to gain a tactical advantage in family court is an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should address.

Joshua asks this Court to review the issues on which the Court of Appeals ruled against him. See Part 3, above. The trial court's errors were not harmless because they allowed Amanda to gain an improper tactical advantage in the relocation analysis, which can only be remedied by a new trial. The trial court's analysis of relocation factors four and seven was also in error for the same reason. This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals decision on these issues, and remand for a new trial.

# 5.1 Abuse of Domestic Violence Protection Orders to gain a tactical advantage in family court is an issue of substantial public interest.

"False allegations of abuse are an all-too-common phenomenon during divorce and child custody proceedings. ... The frequency of false allegations in custody cases is not fully understood, with estimates ranging from 2% to 35% of all cases involving children. Whatever the percentage, attorneys, judges, and mental health experts all know firsthand that it is a vexing problem in court cases." Alan D. Blotcky, PhD, False Allegations of Abuse During Divorce: The Role of Alienating Beliefs, Psychiatric Times, available at https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/false-allegations-of-abuse-during-divorce-the-role-of-alienating-beliefs (Nov. 23, 2021).

"The topic of false allegations of abuse is a complicated and thorny one that deserves much attention." Blotcky, *False Allegations*. On the one hand, domestic violence protection orders are an important

and necessary tool for victims of abuse to secure their personal safety. On the other hand, parties and practitioners have learned that a DVP can be obtained through exaggerated or even completely unfounded allegations and then leveraged to gain a tactical advantage in custody battles or divorce proceedings. See. e.g., Id.; Hemmat Law Group, Defending Wrongful Domestic Violence Accusations in Washington, available at https://www.hemmatlaw.com/ steps-to-take-if-you-are-wrongfully-accused-ofdomestic-violence-in-washington/ (Nov. 7, 2022) ("Unfortunately, your ex can use a false allegation to gain leverage during a current or future divorce or custody battle."); Law Offices of Smith & White, PLLC, Domestic Violence Allegations Require a Strong **Defense and Careful Response**, available at https://www.smithandwhite.com/domestic-violence/ (accessed Oct. 25, 2023) ("It is an unfortunate reality that in some cases, domestic violence allegations are

falsely made... •ne of the most common reasons for false allegations is to gain an upper hand in custody battles or divorce proceedings."); Alan D. Blotcky, PhD, *The Weaponization of False Allegations of Abuse*, Psychiatric Times, https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/the-weaponization-of-false-allegations-of-abuse (Jul. 26, 2022) ("Why would a story of abuse be fabricated? The answer is clear: ... The weaponization of false allegations can be successful.").

"In fact, many people are encouraged by their lawyers to seek this protection without cause because of the beneficial position gained by this strategic move." Joseph E. Cordell, *Order of Protection: And Justice For All?*, available at https://www.huffpost.com/entry/order-of-protection-and-j\_b\_974970 (Sep. 23, 2011). "The misuse of orders of protection ... is one of the more prevalent and unfortunate trends in family law. A system that was designed to protect against abuse is itself being abused." *Id*.

"All allegations of abuse must be taken seriously. But during divorce proceedings involving child custody matters, false allegations of abuse ... can twist a case into a knot that cannot be easily untied." Blotcky, Weaponization. The complicating effect of false allegations of abuse was recognized by the trial court and Court of Appeals in In re Marriage of Ohman, 22 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2022 WL 2236169, \*9, 13 (2022) (unpublished, cited under GR 14.1) (after multiple unfounded allegations, "this case has spun out of control").

In 2006, the Court of Appeals attempted to quell such abuses when it held that the effects of a temporary order or DVP• could not be used to adversely affect the final determination of a parent's rights. *In re Marriage of Watson*, 132 Wn. App. 222, 234, 130 P.3d 915 (2006). The court warned that to hold otherwise would invite abusive use of conflict by parties. *Id.* The court admonished, "a court may not

allow a protection order to serve as a de facto modification of a parenting plan." *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals has also recognized that false allegations constitute an abusive use of conflict that can create a risk of serious psychological damage to the children. *In re Marriage of Rounds*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 801, 803, 423 P.3d 895 (2018); *In re Marriage of Burrill*. 113 Wn. App. 863, 872, 56 P.3d 993 (2002).

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