FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/22/2023 3:41 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1025157

Court of Appeals No. 83082-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMANDA R. COWAN,

Respondent,

٧.

JOSHUA T. COWAN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
shelby@appeal-law.com
ken@appeal-law.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

relocation presumption based on the parties' 2020 parenting plan. Reply 35. Moreover, Joshua seems to agree that *any* error regarding the presumption was harmless given the trial court's indication that it would have reached the same outcome regardless of the presumption. See Pet. 12 (citing 4 RP 934).

The appellate court also rejected Joshua's challenges to CRA factors 4 and 7, addressed fully below. No 83082-1-I at 20-23; *infra*, Argument § D. The appellate court will "reverse a trial court's order permitting relocation of children upon a finding of manifest abuse of discretion." *Id.* at 20 (citing *Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 893, 93 P.3d 124 (2004)). The appellate court found none. No 83082-1-I at 20-23.

In short, the court ruled that Joshua waived review of two of his three appeals and that many errors in his third appeal were harmless. But the appellate court reversed the parenting plan, holding that the trial court erred in modifying non-residential aspects of the parenting plan absent a petition to modify. No. 83082-1-I at 2, 25. The court also reversed the trial court's ruling that Joshua was barred by res judicata from re-litigating the spanking incident. *Id.* at 2, 25. These reversals did not affect the court's affirming the relocation order (*id.* at 25):

Although the trial court abused its discretion in precluding Joshua from introducing challenging the spanking incident, the error was harmless as to the decision to grant Amanda's request to relocate the children because the spanking incident did not play a factor in that decision. Thus, we affirm the relocation order, but where neither party petitioned to modify the parenting plan, we reverse the parenting plan because the trial court abused its discretion in modifying the parenting plan beyond the limited modification allowed for pursuant to a relocation. Because we affirm the relocation, the residential schedule will remain until the trial court on remand can consider and enter a new parenting plan consistent with this opinion.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. This Court need not take review to state the obvious. Pet. 20-25.

Joshua's first argument is that this Court should take review to definitively condemn "using exaggerated or unfounded claims of abuse to gain a tactical advantage in family court" Pet. 24-25. He raises only RAP 13.4(b)(4), petitions involving "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court. Pet. 19. But Joshua's point is uncontested, leaving nothing for this Court to determine.

Joshua's argument is principally quotations from secondary source material discussing the consequences of parties in family-law cases making false abuse allegations to gain a tactical advantage. Pet. 20-22. Amanda agrees that when this happens, it is bad. No reasonable person would disagree. This Court need not and should not take review to state the obvious.

B. This case does not present the issue Joshua asks this Court to review, where the DVPO was well grounded in fact, and where Joshua waived appellate review of the DVPO.

Joshua's petition rests on the unsupported and unsupportable premise that Amanda made "false" allegations to obtain an "unfounded" DVPO. Pet. 25, 31, 33, 34. That is simply false for the many reasons discussed above and below. Moreover, the trial court did not find the allegations false or the DVPO unfounded. And Joshua waived appellate review of the DVPO and the order denying his motion to vacate the DVPO. The entire premise of Joshua's petition is baseless, so it does not present the issue he asks this Court to review. This Court should deny review.

Joshua's petition assumes, without any discussion much less support, that the DVPO is unfounded. Pet. 25, 31, 33, 34. That is false.

The DVPO resulted from severe bruising Amanda discovered on then two-year-old E.C while bathing her the day after the children returned from their residential time with Joshua. 1 CP 6-7. When Amanda asked Joshua about the bruising, he acknowledged spanking E.C., stating that he had to because she was disobeying him by repeatedly getting out of bed. *Id.* E.C.'s eight-year-old sister tried to stop Joshua from spanking E.C., asking whether it was too many spankings. *Id.* Joshua responded, "'not if it makes her listen." *Id.*

Amanda contacted E.C.'s pediatrician and sent her a picture of the bruising. CP 6, 13. The pediatrician contacted CPS, who involved the police. CP 6. On March 23, the police issued a "Notification of Removal of Children" citing the ongoing investigation and the "[d]anger of further physical abuse." CP 6, 11. CPS later determined the abuse allegation was "founded." CP 138.

The trial court issued a temporary DVPO on April 21, 2021, prohibiting contact between Joshua and the children. 1 CP 23-26. On July 21, 2021, the trial court Commissioner ruled that Joshua's excessive corporal punishment constituted domestic violence. DVPO RP 34-35; 1 CP 186-The Commissioner noted that while corporal 93 punishment is legal in Washington, excessive corporal punishment is not. DVPO RP 33. The Commissioner continued that corporal punishment is not warranted to stop a child from getting out of bed, noting "there is a reason" a child gets out of bed "and a parent should be able to address that issue." Id. at 34. Finally, the Commissioner ruled that while a "quick tap on the behind" might be okay, Joshua admitted repeatedly spanking a two-year-old, which is "frankly" inappropriate. Id. Joshua omits most of the Commissioner's ruling granting the DVPO. Pet. 7-8.

The closest Joshua comes to offering any support for his allegation that Amanda's DVPO allegations were false

is citing the trial court's July 15, 2021 ruling denying temporary relocation. Pet. 6-7. Joshua notes that the trial court "found Amanda's abuse allegations 'suspect' [and] was suspicious that Amanda was 'trying to manipulate the process in order to get a desired result.'" Pet. 7 (citing 7/15/21 RP 17-21). He ignores that this occurred one week before the trial court granted the DVPO.

But again, since Joshua did not challenge the DVPO on appeal, he *cannot* challenge it here. The entire premise of his petition is baseless. This Court should deny review.

C. Amanda did not gain any advantage from the DVPO in any event, where the appellate court reversed the parenting plan, affirming only the relocation order that was unaffected by allegations of domestic violence. Pet 25-34.

Joshua argues that the appellate court erred in holding that the trial court's errors related to the DVPO were harmless as to the relocation, claiming that "they allowed Amanda to gain advantages in the relocation analysis from her false allegations." Pet. 25. The premise

of this argument is that "the trial court did, in fact, consider the spanking and the DVPO in its analysis of the relocation factors." Pet at 26. That is simply untrue. Amanda's allegations were true, and the court did not consider the spanking incident under the CRA factors in any event. This Court should deny review.

Joshua claims that "the totality of the trial court's factor four analysis included its comments on the spanking allegation and the §191 findings and restrictions that it intended to impose." Pet. 26 (citing 4 RP 923-32, 946-50, 966). Joshua ignores the court's written finding, which does not mention the DVPO or the spanking incident, but is based entirely on abusive use of conflict (CP 655):

The Court finds that the father has engaged in abusive use of conflict and will have an RCW 26.09.191 finding in the Final Parenting Plan. However, the Court also finds that this .191 limitation is largely remedied by the conditions the court is placing on the father, including his DV treatment and DV dads. ...

This finding's mention of DV *favors Joshua*, where the court expressly found that the conditions in the parenting plan (reversed by the appellate court) "largely remedied" the .191 limitation for Joshua's abusive use of conflict. *Id*; see *also* 4 RP 939. In short, the written finding on factor 4 completely undermines Joshua's argument.

In any event, none of the record citations Joshua provides (without discussing) support this assertion. At 4 RP 923-32, the trial court ruled that while the spanking incident was abuse, it was exercising its discretion not to impose .191 limitations. That benefits Joshua.

At 923, the court stated that it needed to determine whether it would impose .191 limitations under CRA factor 4 ("Whether either parent ... is subject to limitations under RCW 26.09.191 ..."). At 924-25, the court discussed RCW 26.09.191. At 926-28, the court rejected Amanda's allegations that Joshua was abusive to her. Also at 928, the court addressed the DVPO, repeating that the weight

given to the DVPO was "completely within [the court's] discretion." 4 RP 928.

At 928-29, the court stated that the spanking incident was res judicata and that it was abuse within the meaning of RCW 26.09.191(2)(a). *Id.* at 292. The court continued to explain that it was exercising its discretion under RCW 26.09.191(2)(n) not to impose .191 limitations in the parenting plan. *Id.* at 930; *see also* CP 638.

At 931-32, the court found that Joshua engaged in abusive use of conflict. Again, this is the sole basis of the CRA factor 4 analysis. CP 655. Again too, Joshua did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support the finding on abusive use of conflict. No. 83081-1-I at 22.

At 933-34, the court ruled that the DVPO is the order giving rise to the relocation presumption. This is immediately followed by the court's statement that Amanda would also be entitled to the presumption under the parenting plan. 4 RP 934.

Joshua next cites 4 RP 946-50, which follows the court's detailed analysis of each CRA factor. Pet. 26; 4 RP 934-46. Here, the court ruled that Amanda was entitled to relocate with the presumption in place under the DVPO. 4 RP 946-47. The court reiterated that it would reach the same outcome if the 2020 parenting plan applied instead of the DVPO:

I'm now going to go through the same factors as if the parenting plan applied, but not the domestic violence protection order.

Again, if the parenting plan applies to this family and the relocation, without my finding that there has been any significant modification under Section 525(2)(b) about moving to a 50/50 plan, that means the mother has the presumption, and the exact same analysis applies, and I would allow the mother to relocate.

Id. at 947. And the court continued on to rule that it would allow the relocation even if Amanda were not entitled to the relocation presumption (*id.* at 947-48):

I'm now going to go through the same factors as if there was no presumption ... even without the presumption in this case, the mother's request to relocate as analyzed through these factors, and with the children's best interests in mind, and their quality of life, the disruption, their lack of access to their parents, their grandparents, et cetera, and their father, I would still allow this relocation.

At 949, the court addresses conditions in the parenting plan, not the CRA relocation analysis. Indeed, nothing in this section Joshua relies on addresses the CRA factor analysis. 4 RP 946-50. Rather, this largely addresses the relocation presumption, whose application under the DVPO is the epitome of a harmless error, where it applies under the parenting plan. *Id*.

Finally, Joshua cites 4 RP 966. This addresses the parenting plan only, not the relocation. It does not remotely support Joshua's argument.

Joshua next speculates that if the trial court had admitted his excluded evidence, many of the CRA factors might have come out differently. Pet. 28-32. But as the appellate court stated during oral argument, the record on

appeal did not include this evidence.³ With no idea what Joshua's witnesses would have said, Joshua cannot possibly demonstrate that their testimony would have changed anything, much less what the change would be. This Court should reject this rank speculation.

In short, the appellate court correctly ruled that the errors regarding the DVPO were harmless to the relocation, where "the spanking incident did not play a factor" in the relocation decision. This Court should deny review.

D. The trial court was well within its broad discretion in ruling on CRA factors 4 and 7. Pet. 32-34.

The trial court properly exercised its very broad discretion in weighing CRA factors 4 and 7, and there is no

27

³ Wash. Court of Appeals oral argument, *Marriage of Cowan*, No. 83082-1-I (June 6, 2023), at 20 min., 34 sec., video recording by TVW, Washington State's Public Affairs network, https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2023061164.

substantial public interest in this issue in any event. This Court should deny review.

Joshua argues that CRA factor 4, whether a parent "is subject to limitations under RCW 26.09.191," bars the court from considering whether it will enter new .191 limitations as part of the parenting plan resulting from the relocation trial. Pet. 32. The appellate court disagreed, holding that the trial court's decision was consistent with existing precedent:

As previously discussed, this court in Pennamen [Marriage of Pennamen, 135 Wn. App. 790, 804, 146 P.3d 466 (2006)], held that where "RCW 26.09.520(4) requires the court to consider whether either parent is subject to RCW 26.09.191 limitations, which include a long-term impairment resulting from drug abuse that interferes with the performance of parenting functions," the trial court "properly viewed the mother's history of methamphetamine use as relevant to the question whether the detrimental effects of the relocation outweighed the benefits" when considering factor 4. 135 Wn. App. at 804. Nothing in that case suggested that a court had previously imposed RCW 26.09.191 limitations against the mother. This court rejected the mother's argument that the mere consideration of the existence of RCW 26.09.191 limitations under RCW 26.09.520(4) equated to a modification of the parenting plan. <u>Id</u>. at 807.

No. 83082-1-I at 21. Simply stated, under "Pennamen, the trial court was able to consider the abusive use of conflict limitation when considering factor 4 of the relocation factors." *Id.* at 22. Joshua completely ignores *Pennamen* and the appellate court's holding on this point. Pet. 33-34.

Joshua next argues that the trial court erred in considering Amanda's current residence in Union Washington – as it must under CRA factor 7 – because she left the marital home in Maple Valley Washington and moved in with her parents pending the relocation trial. Pet. 33-34; 1 CP 141. This, he argues, allowed Amanda to benefit from her unauthorized move. Pet. 33-34. Joshua omits much.

Acknowledging that she "jumped the gun," Amanda and the children moved in with her parents before the relocation trial. 7/15/21 RP 15; 1 CP 141. She did so "to

provide a safer and more stable environment for the children." 1 CP 141. At the time, Joshua had no right to visitation under the DVPO. 7/15/21 RP 15; 1 CP 186-88.

Union indisputably was the "current" location when the court weighed CRA Factor 7. RCW 26.09.520(7). Joshua offers no support whatsoever for his claim that the trial court erred in considering Amanda's current, albeit temporary, location. Pet. 33-34. It is precisely because Joshua failed to offer "any supporting authority" that the appellate court rejected this argument. No. 83082-1-I at 22.

Joshua also fails to establish any prejudice resulting from these alleged errors. Pet. 32-34. There is none. Indeed, Joshua agrees that the facts supporting a .191 limitation are relevant to other relocation factors. See Pet. 32. He cannot possibly establish that he was harmed by the court's consideration of an abusive use of conflict .191 limitation under CRA factor 4, when he admits the same

considerations are relevant to factors 1 and 3.4 Nor does
Joshua even attempt to show he was harmed by the court's
comparison of Union, Washington to Utah, rather than
Maple Valley, Washington to Utah. Pet. 33-34.

Finally, neither of these alleged errors involve a substantial public interest this Court should decide, the only ground raised for review. Pet. 19 (citing RAP 13.4(b)). There is no public interest, much less a substantial one, in this Court determining whether the trial court abused its very broad discretion in applying the CRA factors to the facts of this case.

In short, the trial courts CRA factor analysis was well within its broad discretion. This Court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

⁴ Factor 1 addresses the strength of the child's relationship with each parent, and factor 3 addresses the comparative detriment in disrupting the child's contact with each parent. RCW 26.09.520(1) & (3).

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